IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA DOCKET NO. 22-0010

APR 1 2022

VIRGINIA

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK
SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA

Christopher Chafin, Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC Petitioners

٧.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Monongalia County (16-C-547)

David Anderson,
Build It, LLC
Affordable Contractors, LLC
Gillen Enterprises, LLC
Brian R. Boal, and
Boal & Associates, P.C.
Defendants.

FILE COPY

PETITIONERS' BR	RIEF	F
-----------------	------	---

Counsel for Petitioners:

Jason E. Wingfield, Esq. (W. Ja. Bar #12582) Gianola, Barnum, Bechtel & Jecklin L.C.

1714 Mileground

Morgantown, WV 26505 Telephone: (304) 291-6300

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court abused its discretion by summarily barring Petitioners' expert from trial without any evidence of prejudice to Respondents.
- 2. The Circuit Court clearly erred by granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondents when expert testimony on standard of care was not necessary.
- The Circuit Court continuously abuses its discretion and displays obvious signs of prejudice towards Petitioners.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC is a now-dissolved Professional Limited Liability Company that formerly provided medical services in the Morgantown, West Virginia area. Petitioner Christopher Chafin is a medical doctor who was a member of Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC. (Collectively Petitioners Chafin and Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC are referred to herein as "Petitioners.") Respondent David Anderson is also a medical doctor and a former member of Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC. He is the owner of Gillen Enterprises, LLC, Affordable Contractors, LLC, and Build It, LLC. Respondents Brian Boal and Boal & Associates P.C. formerly served as the accountants for Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC. (Collectively Brian Boal and Boal & Associates P.C. are referred to herein as "Respondents.")

For some time leading up to 2013, Respondent David Anderson was embezzling from Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC, a fact to which he has since pleaded guilty. Appendix 15.

The underlying case focuses both on Respondent David Anderson's embezzlement as well as Respondent Boal and Boal & Associates P.C.'s contractual relationship with the Petitioners that resulted in a deviation from the industry standard of care in providing accounting and tax services for Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC in

addition to their failure to properly file and pay withheld taxes for the benefit of Petitioner Chafin.

Filed in late 2016, the underlying case has been marred by a series of extensive delays. For example, for nearly a year the Circuit Court did not enter an Agreed Order amending the Complaint. Additionally, there have been numerous continuances; nearly all of which were ordered sua sponte by the Circuit Court.

This petition, like the petition before it, addresses the Circuit Court's handling of the Petitioners' expert witness disclosure and the consequences faced by the Petitioners as a result of its exclusion.

On May 1, 2019, in accordance with the Circuit Court's December 2018 Scheduling Order, Plaintiff's disclosed two experts: Andrew Smith and Charles Russo. Appendix 724.

With regards to Andrew Smith, Plaintiff provided his CV and disclosed that:

Plaintiffs believe that this expert will testify to the standard of care accounting professionals owe to client and industry practices. Further, it is anticipated that this expert will testify to a review of accounting practices performed in the subject matter and his opinions based upon that review.

With regards to Charles Russo, Plaintiff also provided his CV and disclosed that:

Plaintiffs believe that this expert will testify to the standard of care accounting professionals owe to client and industry practices. Further, it is anticipated that this expert will testify to a review of accounting practices performed in the subject matter and his opinions based upon that review. Moreover, this expert will provide a value for the lost income and lost opportunity costs associated with the negligence and embezzlement and the effect on the Plaintiffs.

Almost immediately, Respondent David Anderson filed a Motion to Strike Plaintiffs expert disclosures. Appendix 775. On June 19, 2019, the Court entered an Amended

Scheduling Order stating, in part, that deadline for the "[p]arty with burden of proof to supplement trial experts' opinion" as August 9, 2019. Appendix 772. On August 8, 2019, a hearing was held in this matter to discuss various discovery disputes. However, at that hearing, Defendants forewent their arguments regarding Plaintiffs' expert disclosures after the Court advised them it had already ruled in their favor in other matters and to "stop when [Defendants are] ahead." Appendix 712. On August 14, 2019, the Court entered a Second Amended Scheduling Order which left the deadline for the "Party with burden of proof to supplement trial experts' opinion" as August 9, 2019—a date that had already passed. Appendix 769.

On June 4, 2019, Defendants provided their own expert witness disclosures, which consisted of a single paragraph and largely mirrored Plaintiffs'. Appendix 755.

On October 23, 2019, a preliminary report of Andrew Smith, CPA was disclosed to the Defendants along with the plan for obtaining additional necessary opinions. On November 7, 2019, Counsel for the Boal Respondents wrote in response that the report was untimely.

On March 2, 2020, counsel for the Petitioners, acting as counsel for the victim in the companion criminal case (14-F-49), filed a Petition for Release of Probation Records because counsel had learned (though it had not been disclosed by the State or Defendant) that Respondent Anderson was seeking release from home confinement. The purpose for asking for Probation Records was to assert Cheat Lake Urgent Care's rights pursuant to the Victim Protection Act of 1984. Additionally, a multitude of

subpoenas were issued based upon issues arising from the Boal Defendants' responses to requests for production of documents.¹

On March 5, 2020, Plaintiffs made their NINTH supplement to the request for production of documents.

On March 17, 2020, a final report was provided to the Defendants from Andrew Smith, CPA. At least a portion of this delay was attributable to the Defendants' not timely producing discovery responses.

On March 10, 2020, Respondents filed a Motion in Limine to Preclude Expert Testimony seeking to strike Petitioners' experts. Appendix 736. On March 11, 2020, Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment, based on their assumption that the Circuit Court would strike the Plaintiffs' experts. Appendix 668, 678. On March 12, 2020, Respondents filed their Preliminary Fact Witness List in this case. Appendix 7.

On April 17, 2020, trial and the pretrial conference in this matter were continued generally due to the COVID-19 Pandemic.

On June 4, 2020, the Circuit Court held a hearing in 14-F-49 to consider Respondent Anderson's Motion to be Released from Home Confinement. Appendix 525-579. Though Jason E. Wingfield, Esq. could not appear due to a hearing being called in the Court of Common Pleas for Fayette County, Pennsylvania, David M. Jecklin, Esq., a partner from the same firm, did appear. Immediately upon court being called into session, Mr. Jecklin became a proxy "punching bag" for Mr. Wingfield. Appendix 526-527. The Circuit Court eventually sent Mr. Jecklin away from the hearing, without ever hearing the

¹ Boal Defendants produced Quickbooks files for Cheat Lake Urgent Care, PLLC and also indicated it possessed the same for Defendant Affordable Contractors, LLC as well as several hundred pages of documents. Affordable Contractor, LLC has objected to the disclosure and the Circuit Court has refused to compel production.

Petition filed by the victim and leaving the victim without representation, to ascertain the status of certain facts from the Circuit Clerk. Appendix 526-530. Thereafter, Respondent Tucker and Raymond Yackel, Esq., (counsel for Respondent Anderson in both cases) engaged in an *ex parte* discussion with counsel for the Anderson Defendants regarding his belief that there were statute of limitations issues with this instant matter. The Circuit Court repeatedly opined that she would ensure that the victim—who she alleges "wanted money"—became inclined to resolve this suit. Appendix 540-552.

On August 3, 2020, the Circuit Court held a hearing in this matter on Respondents' various motions to strike and to exclude Plaintiffs' experts. Appendix 318-365. At that hearing, Defendants did not provide any evidence of prejudice, nor did they explain why they had failed to depose Plaintiffs' experts, why Defendants' expert disclosures were sufficient while Plaintiffs' were not, nor did the Court inquire. *Id.* As shown in the transcript, the hearing consisted largely of the Court's interpersonal relationships with Counsel for the Defendants. *Id.* The Court barely acknowledged that the IRS never produced the records Respondents considered vital to the case (and which surely Petitioners' experts would be required to opine upon). *Id.* Inexplicably to anyone unaware of the Court's prior ex parte discussions with Defense counsel, the Court allowed Defendants to amend their pleadings to include a statute of limitations defense even while the case was nominally too far along for additional expert disclosures. *Id.*

In fact, the Circuit Court studiously avoided the disingenuous averments made by defense Counsel in written motions, unless she was asserting negativity towards Petitioners' Counsel. Petitioners note the Circuit Court openly acknowledged that it

deemed Plaintiffs' disclosures inadequate and too "convoluted" without so much as bothering to read them:

MR. LEVICOFF: He served an expert report, which incidentally, I

commend a reading of it to the court. If the court can

figure out what it says the court is a lot better than I am.

It is so convoluted.

THE COURT: Well, I have trouble figuring out most of the pleadings

from plaintiff in this case, so, I would just agree with

you without reading it.

* * *

THE COURT: okay. so, 29 pages based on nothing.

MR. LEVICOFF: Based on nothing.

Id. Instead, the Circuit Court indicated it was inclined to grant the Defendants' Motions and encouraged settlement over the next few days, since this was about "only money."

The next day (not days later as suggested; merely hours), the Court issued its Order, summarily granting Defendants' Motion to Strike Plaintiffs' Expert Charles Russo. Appendix 366.

A petition for writ of prohibition followed. Appendix 802. This Court, concerned that it could not render a decision without a detailed order from below, denied the writ.

² This comment echoed the sentiment that she shared during the *ex parte* communication she engaged in with Mr. Yackel.

The Respondents then filed an amended motion for summary judgment alleging that without expert testimony, the Petitioners could not make a prima facie case on malpractice. Appendix 263-300. On July 8, 2021, the Petitioners provided the Court and counsel with their Response in Opposition to the Amended Motion for Summary Judgment. A hearing was held on July 12, 2021. The Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Respondents. The Petitioners noted their objections to the Order and filed their Proposed Order. Appendix 179. The Circuit Court ignored that proposed Order.

After the Respondents' Order was entered, the Petitioners then timely filed their Motion for Relief from Judgment and Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. Appendix 49-69. The Respondents filed a response. The Circuit Court then scheduled a hearing on the Motions. Appendix 10-11. Without the consideration of argument, the Circuit Court denied the Petitioners' Motions.

Meanwhile, in the criminal proceeding, no restitution has been Ordered. Though the Circuit Court set several hearings to determine a restitution amount, no evidence has ever been taken. Appendix 17. Instead, the Circuit Court ignored its responsibility to Order restitution and instead appointed a discovery commissioner. *Id*.

The Petitioners now appeal the Circuit Court's rulings regarding the exclusion of their expert and the resultant grant of summary judgment.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court seemingly has endeavored to prevent this matter from seeing the light of justice. To understand why requires a look at where the problems began: the Circuit Court abused its discretion in striking the Petitioners' experts. Though several

intervening issues prevented Petitioners' expert disclosures from meeting the Circuit Court and Respondents vague standards, the Respondents never endured actual prejudice from the supposedly late disclosures. Importantly, Rules of Civil Procedure don't require a report to be produced at the time of identifying the experts. This resulted in an avalanche of following litigation.

Since the exclusion of expert testimony was improper, so too was the summary judgment awarded to the Respondents. The Circuit Court ignored jurisprudence regarding the individual claims raised in the Second Amended Complaint. Consequently, the Circuit Court granted summary judgment on Counts of the Complaint that did not require expert testimony. The Circuit Court has abused its discretion to the continuous detriment of the Petitioners. Thus, this Court should reverse the Orders of the Circuit Court of Monongalia County striking the Petitioners' experts and granting summary judgment.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioners respectfully request oral argument before the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 19.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court will need to arm itself with two Standards of Review to adjudicate the arguments herein. The off stated Standard of Review for Summary Judgment includes: "A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). This Court has repeatedly held that under Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, """[a] motion for summary

judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syllabus Point 3, *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963).' Syllabus Point 1, *Andrick v. Town of Buckhannon*, 187 W.Va. 706, 421 S.E.2d 247 (1992)." Syl. Pt. 1, *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

Additionally, since the Petitioners are asking this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's Order striking the Petitioners' expert, the standard of review for adjudication of motions in limine is provided:

"A trial court's ruling on a motion in limine is reviewed on appeal for an abuse of discretion." Syl. Pt. 1, *McKenzie v. Carroll Int'l Corp.*, 216 W. Va. 686, 688, 610 S.E.2d 341, 343 (2004).

B. The Circuit Court abused its discretion by barring Plaintiffs' expert from trial.

This appeal centers on a Judge that has expressed disdain for the Petitioners from the outset of this matter. Appendix 895-983. Indeed, the Circuit Court, by virtue of striking the Petitioners' experts has declared that the \$2,179,000.00 embezzled by Defendant Anderson with the assistance of the Respondents is utterly worthless. Instead, the Circuit Court has made this case about "unclean hands", "games [that] have been played in [14-F-49]" and the Petitioner medical practice not being "worth its salt". *Id.* Now, nearly five (5) years after the Petitioners sought to recuse this Judge for her apparent and obvious prejudice, we are here to discuss what was foretold in that Motion.

The genesis of this three (3) year war on expert disclosures begins with the Circuit Court's folly in striking the Plaintiffs' expert witness, Charles Russo, C.P.A. Hence, this should be the embarkation point for this Court to begin its consideration in reversing the Circuit Court's Orders striking the Petitioners' expert and granting summary judgment against the Petitioners.

The purpose of discovery and disclosure requirements in West Virginia Circuit Courts is to prevent surprise and otherwise stop the fabled "trial by ambush." *McDougal v. McCammon,* 192 W. Va. 229, 237 (1995); *Graham v. Wallace,* 214 W. Va. 178, 184-85 (2003) (citing *McDougal,* 192 W. Va. at 795-96). This general principle, and the attendant rules of West Virginia Civil Procedure, are not meant, however, to arbitrarily foreclose development of a Plaintiff's case. As this Court has pointed out, discovery and disclosure of an expert opinion and the basis for that opinion may continue up until a reasonable amount of time before trial. *See, e.g. Tallman,* 234 W. Va. at 719 (allowing the supplementation of expert disclosures six weeks prior to trial); *see also Michael v. Henry,* 177 W. Va. 494, 498 (1987) ("...[t]he great majority of courts that have construed this rule agree that expert witnesses need not be identified until the later stages of discovery."); *see also Krivchenia,* 215 W. Va. at 603 (allowing expert testimony regarding the standard of care following that witness's deposition in which he stated he would not testify on the standard of care).

The Respondents were not Prejudiced by the Petitioners' expert disclosures.

With the basis for discovery and its purpose in mind, this Court should next consider its holding that the primary factors when considering whether to exclude evidence are whether and to what extent a party may suffer prejudice and the ability of the offending party to cure such prejudice:

The factors to be considered in determining whether the failure to supplement discovery requests under Rule 26(e)([1]) of the Rules of Civil Procedure should require exclusion of evidence related to the supplementary material include: (1) the prejudice or surprise in fact of the party against whom the evidence is to be admitted; (2) the ability of that party to cure the prejudice; (3) the bad faith or willfulness of the party who failed to supplement discovery requests; and (4) the practical importance of the evidence excluded.

W. Va. DOT v. Parkersburg Inn, Inc., 222 W. Va. 688, 699 (2008) (quoting Prager v. Meckling, 172 W. Va. 785, Syl. Pt. 5 (1983)); JWCF, LP v. Farruggia, 232 W. Va. 417, 429 (2013) (citing Prager, 222 W. Va. at 785). And even where there is prejudice and surprise to opposing party, the ability of that party to effectively cure the prejudice should lead a court away from excluding the evidence. See, e.g., Tallman, 234 W.Va. at 718-19; see also JWCF, 232 W. Va. at 429-30; c.f. Parsons v. Consol. Gas Supply Corp., 163 W.Va. 464 (1979) (this Court's policy is that cases should be decided on the merits). Emphasis added.

Though the Respondents' Motion to Strike and Motion in Limine has generally alleged prejudice and surprise, arguing that Plaintiffs' report is "untimely" and "deficient", the Respondents have never identified actual prejudice or surprise. Even assuming that Defendants' allegations meet the first *Prager* factor, Defendants have not alleged, and cannot reasonably allege, that such prejudice escapes simple, satisfactory and complete cure. In fact, the Petitioner's expert disclosure that included reports from both experts

was received more than two months prior to the entry of the Circuit Court's Order striking the experts. Appendix 476. Prior to that, all Defendants had received an expert report in November 2017 detailing the embezzlement engaged in by Defendant Anderson during 2012. Appendix 593. Further, all Defendants had received a preliminary report in October of 2019. Appendix 644-648, generally. The Defendants were further on notice that their cooperation in discovery was necessary for the Petitioners' experts to produce reports detailing their opinion, yet each of the Defendants delayed production of discovery responses. *Id.* Interestingly, Counsel for Defendant Anderson and his associated entities still has not responded to discovery as of the filling of this brief.

The party that has been prejudiced is the Petitioners. The Respondents spent a great deal of effort in emphasizing their need for the Petitioners' Internal Revenue Service file. Appendix 705-708. Those records, though requested by the Petitioners, were never produced by the IRS. Furthermore, without those records, the Petitioners' experts were slowed by having to retrace money through Quickbooks files provided by the Respondents. The Respondents were prohibited from providing everything, however. Counsel for the Anderson Defendants, which includes Affordable Contractors, LLC, has never allowed the Petitioners access to its accounting information possessed by the Respondents. Appendix 521. The Circuit Court refused to compel the Anderson Defendants to comply with discovery requirements. Appendix 366. Thus, the accuracy of the expert reports and the time within which they were produced was directly affected by factors outside the province of the Petitioner. There was no way to appease the opposing parties or the Circuit Court.

At the time the Circuit Court entered its Order striking the Petitioners' experts, a date for trial had not even been set in this matter.

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