IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGI

DO NOT REMOVE

FROM MUE

CHRISTOPHER CHAFIN and CHEAT LAKE URGENT CARE, PLLC, Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

v.

No. 22-0010

1111

FILE COPY

FALS

BRIAN R. BOAL and BOAL & ASSOCIATES, P.C., Defendants Below, Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, BRIAN R. BOAL and BOAL & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

Arising from a December 9, 2021 Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order and Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment

CIRCUIT COURT OF MONONGALIA COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO. 16-C-547

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners' Brief presents as an ill-conceived, untimely, direct appeal of the Circuit Court's July 30, 2021 Summary Judgment Order. Because Petitioners noticed this appeal over five months after entry of the Summary Judgment Order, the appeal can and should be dismissed, for the Court lacks jurisdiction to hear it in light of West Virginia Code § 58-5-4 and Rules 5(b) and 5(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Should Petitioners' appeal instead be construed as an appeal from the December 9, 2021 Final Order denying Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion and Rule 60(b) Motion, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's decision. As the Circuit Court recognized, Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion failed to identify any specific error of law contained within the Summary Judgment Order. Though Petitioners' claims against Boal are captioned under a variety of legal theories, an analysis of the Second Amended Complaint confirms that the basis for each claim is factually similar, and that the claims are dependent upon Boal's alleged non-compliance with a professional standard of care rather than, for example, the breach of a particular contract provision. In this complex professional liability action, Petitioners' claims involve duties required of accountants that are not ordinarily within the knowledge of lay jurors, and alleged breaches that are not so obvious as to permit the application of *res ipsa loquitor*. Further, the Circuit Court correctly concluded that Petitioners failed to demonstrate that its decision to strike Petitioners' liability expert and enter summary judgment in favor of Boal amounted to an "obvious injustice." Petitioners simply failed to acknowledge their own responsibility for failing to timely disclose the opinions of their liability expert or the prejudice resulting from Boal's inability to understand the claims asserted against them and prepare an adequate defense.

As for Petitioners' Rule 60(b) Motion, it was properly denied because it attacked an interlocutory order, the Order to Strike, rather than a final order. Even if it was appropriate for this Court to examine the substance of the Rule 60(b) Motion, the motion was without merit. The filing of the Rule 60(b) Motion more than one year after the Order to Strike was entered was unreasonable and untimely. Petitioners could not advance grounds under the first five (5) subparts of the Rule and the subject matter of the Motion was not so extraordinary and unusual as to satisfy the catch-all provision of W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 60(b)(6).

Finally, Petitioners' allegations of prejudice on the part of the presiding Circuit Judge are baseless and unworthy of a detailed response. Moreover, those allegations are immaterial to the disposition of this appeal, inasmuch as this Circuit Court's denial of Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion is subject to a *de novo* review and because Petitioners' Rule 60(b) Motion, improperly challenging an interlocutory order, was meritless as a matter of law.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This appeal involves assignments of error involving the application of settled law. Oral argument pursuant to W.Va. R. App. P. Rule 19 is requested, if only to the extent Petitioners' Brief hopelessly confuses the issues. This appeal is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>Petitioners' Appeal May be Dismissed as Untimely; Alternatively, The Scope of the</u> <u>Court's Appellate Jurisdiction and Review is Limited by the Few Arguments</u> <u>Petitioners Adequately Preserved for Appeal</u>

Petitioners' Brief fails to address the Court's jurisdiction or the scope of appellate review in this matter. Indeed, Petitioners fail to acknowledge and seemingly do not understand that their only potential appeal is from a final post-judgment order resolving motions made pursuant to

{1240005.1}

W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rules 59(e) and 60(b), <u>not</u> an original judgment order. [*Cf.* Pet. Br. at 7 ("The Petitioners now appeal the Circuit Court's rulings regarding the exclusion of their expert and the resultant grant of summary judgment.")] This distinction is an important one, for in this case, the timing of Petitioners' appeal and the nature of the appealable orders significantly constrain this Court's jurisdiction and the scope of its appellate review.

An appeal to this Court generally must be taken no more than four (4) months from the date of the entry of a final judgment, though a circuit court or this Court may extend the appeal period by up to two (2) months for good cause shown. W.Va. Code § 58-5-4; W.Va. R. App. P. Rule 5(f). West Virginia Code § 58-5-4 is jurisdictional in that the failure to timely appeal precludes the Court from hearing the matter. *See, e.g., W.Va. Dept. of Energy v. Hobet Min. and Constr. Co.*, 178 W.Va. 262, 264, 358 S.E.2d 823, 825 (1987), citing *Kentucky Fried Chicken of Morgantown, Inc.*, 158 W.Va. 708, 214 S.E.2d 823 (1975); *Wheeling Dollar Saving and Trust Co. v. Singer*, 162 W.Va. 250 S.E.2d 369 (1978). Further, a notice of appeal must be filed within thirty (30) days of the judgment being appealed. W.Va. R. App. P. Rule 5(b).

Accordingly, the first task presented by this appeal is to ascertain the date on which a final, appealable order was entered, evaluate the timeliness of Petitioner's notice of appeal in relation to that date, and identify those issues (if any) that have been timely raised and preserved for appeal. This evaluation requires a review of the principles governing appeals from summary judgment orders and orders addressing Rule 59(e) and Rule 60(b) motions.

If a summary judgment order dismisses fewer than all parties or fewer than all claims in a civil action and includes the language required by Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure – i.e., "that there is no just reason for delay" together with language directing the entry of judgment – the order is immediately appealable with respect to the dismissed parties and/or

- 13 -

claims. Syl. Pt. 1, *Riffe v. Armstrong*, 197 W.Va. 626, 477 S.E.2d 535 (1996), overruled on other grounds, Syl. Pt. 4, *Moats v. Preston County Comm'n*, 206 W.Va. 8, 521 S.E.28 180 (1999).

A timely motion under Rule 59(e) suspends the finality of a judgment, thereby extending the time for appeal so as to run from the date of entry of the order disposing of that motion. *Roberts v. Consolidation Coal Co.*, 208 W.Va. 218, 539 S.E.2d 478 (2000). However, <u>only those issues</u> <u>raised in the Rule 59(e) motion benefit</u> from the extended appeal period. Syl. Pt. 3, *Thompson v. Branches-Domestic Violence Shelter of Huntington*, 207 W.Va. 479, 534 S.E.2d 33 (2000). In contrast, a Rule 60(b) motion does <u>not</u> toll or suspend the running of the time to appeal. *Riffe*, 197 W.Va. at 636, 477 S.E.2d at 545. In an appeal of the denial of a Rule 60(b) motion, only the order of denial itself requires review, and <u>not</u> the substance supporting the underlying judgment nor the final judgment order. Syl. Pt. 3, *Toler v. Shelton*, 157 W.Va. 778, 204 S.E.2d 85 (1974).

Consistent with Rule 54(b), the Circuit Court's July 30, 2021 Summary Judgment Order contains the express finding that "there is no just reason for delay" and directs the entry of final judgment in favor of Boal.¹² [AP at 75.] Accordingly, the Summary Judgment Order was a final, appealable order. However, Petitioners' Notice of Appeal was not filed until January 6, 2022, more than five (5) months after entry of the Summary Judgment Order. No motion to extend the appeal period was ever made. Thus, Petitioners cannot pursue, and this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear, a direct appeal of the Summary Judgment Order.

Petitioners' Brief does not reflect an understanding of this limitation. Instead, Petitioners' Brief directly argues issues resolved by the Circuit Court's Summary Judgment Order and its August 4, 2020 Order to Strike, by which Petitioners were precluded from offering the testimony of their liability expert, Mr. Russo. As this Court previously observed, the Order to Strike is

¹² Upon information and belief, Petitioners' claims against the other Defendants are still pending.

interlocutory and non-appealable. See State ex rel. Chafin v. Tucker, No. 20-0685 (W.Va. Sup. Ct. March 17, 2021)(memorandum decision) at *5. [SAP at F, page 5.] A proper appeal from an appealable, original judgment order – such as the July 30, 2021 Summary Judgment Order – ordinarily would permit review of any preceding, non-appealable decision from which an alleged error in the order appealed from arose, no matter how long the decision was rendered before the appeal was taken. See, e.g., Syl. Pt. 6, Riffe, supra; Syl. Pt. 5, State ex rel. Davis v. Iman Mining Co., 144 W.Va. 46, 106 S.E.2d 97 (1958); Syl. Pt. 2, Lloyd v. Kyle, 26 W.Va. 534 (1885). But because Petitioners did not take a timely appeal from the Summary Judgment Order, that principle is inapplicable here.

Consequently, because Petitioners' Brief is presented as a direct appeal of the Summary Judgment Order and Order to Strike, this Court can and should dismiss the appeal as untimely. If so construed, the Court need not address the merits of any issue raised by Petitioners.

However, if the Court reframes Petitioners' Brief as an appeal from the December 9, 2021 Final Order, as the balance of this Brief assumes, the Court's review is limited to considering the few issues raised and preserved in Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion [AP at 43-50], as identified in Section II.B at pages 9-10 above, and to analyzing the Circuit Court's denial of Petitioners' Rule 60(b) Motion. [AP at 51-63.] Petitioners failed to preserve any other arguments for appeal.

B. Standard of Review

To the extent this appeal is deemed a timely appeal from the December 9, 2021 Final Order denying Petitioners' Rule 59(e) and Rule 60(b) Motions, the following standards of review apply.

1. Motion to Alter or Amend a Judgment Pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 59(e)

The standard of review applicable to an appeal from a motion to alter or amend a judgment made pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 59(e) is the same standard applicable to the underlying judgment upon which the motion is based. Syl. Pt. 1, *Wickland v. American Travellers Life Ins.*

{1240005.1]

Co., 204 W.Va. 430, 513 S.E.2d 657 (1998). Where, as here, the judgment subject to the Rule 59(e) motion is a summary judgment ruling, the standard of review is *de novo*. *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

2. Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order Pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 60(b)

In reviewing an order denying a motion under W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 60(b), the function of the appellate court is limited to deciding whether the trial court abused its discretion in ruling that sufficient grounds for disturbing the finality of the judgment were not shown in a timely manner. Syl. Pt. 4, *Toler, supra*. The resolution of a motion made pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 60(b) rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, whose ruling will not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse of that discretion is demonstrated. Syl. Pt. 5, *Toler, supra; Powderidge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Properties, Ltd.*, 196 W.Va. 692, 474 S.E.2d 872 (1996).

C. <u>The Circuit Court Properly Denied Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion Because</u> <u>Petitioners Failed to Demonstrate that the Summary Judgment Order was the</u> <u>Product of a "Clear Error of Law" or Resulted in "Obvious injustice".</u>

In West Virginia, a trial court may grant a motion to alter or amend a judgment made pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 59(e) if the movant demonstrates (1) an intervening change in controlling law, (2) newly discovered, previously unavailable evidence, (3) a clear error of law for which a remedy is necessary or (4) obvious injustice. Syl. Pt. 2, *Mey v. Pep Boys - Manny, Moe & Jack*, 228 W.Va. 48, 717 S.E.2d 235 (2011). Rule 59(e) is intended to allow a trial court to correct its own errors and avoid unnecessary appellate procedures. *See, e.g., Moro v. Shell Oil Co.*, 91 F.3d 872, 876 (7th Cir. 1996). "Rule 59(e) is not a vehicle for a party to undo his/her own procedural failures or to advance arguments that could have been presented to the trial court prior to judgment." *Corporation of Harpers Ferry v. Taylor*, 227 W.Va. 501, 711 S.E.2d 571 (2011)(*per curiam*), quoting Franklin D. Cleckley, et al., Litigation Handbook on the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, § 59(e), at 1179 (3rd ed. 2008). Further, it has been said that a trial court

... has considerable discretion to grant or deny a motion under Rule 59(e). A court's reconsideration of a prior order is an extraordinary remedy which should be used only sparingly.

Flynn v. Terrebonne Parish School Bd., 348 F.Supp.2d 769, 771 (E.D. La. 2004)(citations omitted); *see, e.g., Parrish v. Sollecito*, 253 F.Supp.2d 713, 715 (S.D. N.Y. 2003); *Guttierrez v. Ashcroft*, 289 F.Supp.2d 555, 561 (D. N.J. 2003).

In attacking the Court's July 30, 2021 Summary Judgment Order, Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion did not rely on a change in law or newly discovered evidence. Instead, Petitioners briefly rehashed a couple of old arguments, suggesting the Court's entry of summary judgment constituted "a clear error of law" because some of their claims against Boal purportedly require no expert evidence on standard of care issues. To the extent Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion might be construed to contain an argument predicated on alleged, "obvious injustice," Petitioners made only a bald, vague contention of unfairness, asserting that Boal was not prejudiced by Petitioners' untimely expert disclosure, and had engaged in the same or similar conduct as Petitioners.¹³

As explained below, the Circuit Court properly denied Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion because it failed to meet the high standards of clear, manifest error or obvious injustice.

1. <u>The Circuit Court Correctly Found that Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion Failed to Identify</u> Any "Clear Error of Law" Embodied in the Summary Judgment Order

Courts recognize that the threshold for demonstrating a "clear error of law" sufficient to warrant relief under Rule 59(e) is a very high one. One appellate court has opined that "manifest error" of the sort sufficient to satisfy Rule 59(e) amounts to a "wholesale disregard, misapplication, or failure to recognize controlling precedent on the part of the court." *Oto v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*,

¹³ The adequacy of Boal's expert disclosures is not material to the Circuit Court's ruling regarding Petitioners' non-compliance with expert disclosure deadlines. After all, Petitioners have the burden of proof and, in light of the vague allegations in the Second Amended Complaint, it was impossible for Boal to provide detailed expert opinions when Petitioners' noncompliance prevented Boal from adequately understanding the claims made against them.

224 F.3d 601, 606 (7th Cir. 2000) (also noting that "[a] 'manifest error' is not demonstrated by the disappointment of the losing party"). Another court has opined that a party seeking relief under Rule 59(e) "must demonstrate that errors were made which were so egregious that an appellate court could not affirm the [trial] court's judgment." *Kelly v. City of Fort Thomas*, 610 F.Supp.2d 759, 781 (E.D. Ky. 2009). Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion fell far short of such a threshold.

Petitioners' need to support all of their claims with expert evidence demonstrating that Boal breached applicable standards of care was fully briefed¹⁴ and argued before the Circuit Court. The arguments in Petitioners' Rule 59(e) Motion mirrored those Petitioners previously briefed and argued.¹⁵ The Circuit Court considered those arguments and resolved them in its detailed, July 30, 2021 Summary Judgment Order.¹⁶ In doing so, the Circuit Court found that although captioned under different legal theories, all of Petitioners' claims arose from the same core of operative facts and allegations [AP at 64-65, ¶ 2]; expert testimony is required to sustain an evidentiary burden on issues beyond the common knowledge and experience of average jurors [AP at 68, ¶ 8]; actions against accountants are typical of actions against other learned professionals, in that such actions require proof of the duties owed to the client and the standards to which the professional must ordinarily conform [AP at 69, ¶ 9]; all of Petitioners' claims against Boal stem from the alleged failure to perform professional duties owed to the clients and the alleged failure to perform such duties consistent with the applicable standard of care [*id.*]; expert testimony was therefore required

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